
 

Corporate & Democratic Services 

www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings 

 

Cabinet Agenda 
 

Tuesday, 9 June 2020 at 5.00 pm 

 
For further information, please contact Democratic Services on 01424 451484 or email: 
democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk 
 

  Page No. 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2.   Declaration of Interests 
 

 

3.   Discretionary Business Grant Scheme Policy 
(Peter Grace, Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues) 
 

1 - 22 

4.   Notification of Additional Urgent Items 
 

 

5.   Urgent Items (if any)  
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

 

Report To: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 8 June 2020 

Report Title: Discretionary Business Grant Scheme Policy 

Report By: Peter Grace 

Assistant Director – Financial Services and Revenues 
(Chief Finance Officer)  

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Classification: Open 

 
 

Purpose of Report 
 

To agree a Policy for the distribution of the government funding (£1,153,000) in respect of a 
Discretionary Small Business Grant Scheme. This is primarily aimed at assisting 
businesses with property related costs which have not been eligible for the government’s 
Small Business Grant or Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant.  

  

 

Recommendation(s) 

1. The Council’s Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of the Council, the 
Deputy Leader, and the lead member for Financial Management and Estates approve 
the Hastings Discretionary Business Grants Policy on behalf of the Council’s 
Cabinet under Emergency Powers (part 4 of the Council’s constitution rule 26.22). 

2. The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to make technical amendments and 
adjustments to the scheme in consultation with the lead member for Financial 
Management and Estates to ensure available funding is distributed, and that it meets 
the criteria set by the Council and remains in line with Central Government 
guidance. 

 

Reasons for Recommendations 

1. The Council needs to agree a Discretionary Grant scheme as a matter of urgency to 
support businesses within the Borough. 
 

2. Developing a scheme which has limited levels of funding that can not be exceeded, 
requires a degree of delegated authority to make technical amendments and adjustments 
to the scheme if grants are to be awarded quickly and to those which meet the eligibility 
criteria. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Introduction 

1. The government announced on Friday 1 May 2020 that they would be making additional 
money available to local authorities to support businesses. The government have provided a 
general overview of the scheme which can be found on their website. 
 

2. Theses grants are predominately aimed at: 

 Small and Micro businesses as defined in Section 33 Part 2 of the Small Business, 

Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 and the companies Act 2006 

 Businesses with relatively high ongoing fixed property-related costs 

 Businesses which can demonstrate that they have suffered a significant fall in 

income due to the Covid-19 crisis 

 Businesses which occupy property, or part of a property, with a rateable value or 

annual mortgage payments below £51,000. 

3. The Council only has a limited amount of funding available from the government for this 
scheme (£1,153,000). Given the funding pressures that the Council itself is currently facing it 
is unable to add to this level of resources. 
 

4. The discretionary scheme is aimed at supporting some of the small businesses who were not 
eligible for the Small Business Grant Fund or the Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Fund. It will 
prioritise small and micro businesses with fixed property-related costs which can 
demonstrate that they have suffered a significant fall in income due to the COVID-19 crisis.  
 

5. Local Authorities have been asked by government to prioritise the following;  
 

 Small businesses in shared offices or other flexible workspaces. Examples 
could include units in industrial parks, science parks and incubators which do 
not have their own business rates assessment; 
 

 Regular market traders with fixed building costs, such as rent, who do not have 
their own business rates assessment; 
 

 Bed & Breakfasts which pay Council Tax instead of business rates; and 
 

 Charity properties in receipt of charitable business rates relief which would 
otherwise have been eligible for Small Business Rates Relief or Rural Rate 
Relief 
 

6. The council has been working with other local councils within East Sussex to establish the 
exact criteria for which businesses will be eligible.  
 

7. Who will not be eligible?  
 
Businesses which have received or are eligible for cash grants from any other central 
government COVID-19 related scheme will not be eligible for this fund. Such grant schemes 
include but are not limited to:  
 

 Small Business Grant Fund 

 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant 

Page 2

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding?5432


Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

 The Fisheries Response Fund 

 Domestic Seafood Supply Scheme (DSSS) 

 The Zoos Support Fund 

 The Dairy Hardship Fund 
 

8. Businesses who have applied for the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme will be eligible to 
apply for this scheme.  
 

9. Businesses who are eligible for the Self-Employed Income Support Scheme (SEISS) will also 
be eligible to apply for this scheme.  
 

10. Only businesses which were actively trading on the 11 March 2020 will be eligible and 
companies that are in administration, are insolvent or where a striking-off notice has been 
made will not be eligible. Likewise, for example, businesses recently acquired and being 
refurbished are not eligible – as per government advice.  
 

11. The Council has enabled businesses to register an expression of interest on line for this 
funding based on the guidance government has provided to date. This does provide the 
Council with a readily contactable list of business who may be eligible. The information and 
numbers registering an interest have helped in developing the scheme and determining the 
level and number of grants that it may be possible to provide – assessed as potentially up to 
300. 
 

12. There are a number of methods by which this grant could be distributed. It could be on a “first 
come first served basis”, an application window, an application by business type, tranches of 
funding, etc. Given the limited amounts of funding available and the necessity of distributing 
it as rapidly as possible to businesses in most need the preferred basis is by means of a two 
week application window. This does mean that the Council may not be shown as distributing 
any grants in the first few weeks of June but should have distributed the majority of the 
grants by the end of the month. 
 
Funding 
 

13. The government have allowed 5% of the estimated amount available to fund the Small 
Business Grant and the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant. This amounts to £1,153,000 
(5% of £23,060,000 i.e. the Council’s assessed amount as at 3 May 2020). 
 
 
Eligibility 
 

14. The eligibility criteria are mainly set by the government i.e. Department for Business, Energy 
and Industrial Strategy (BEIS). However, there are two areas which need a ‘local’ 
interpretation namely: 
 

  Businesses must have relatively high ongoing fixed building-related costs. 
 

  Businesses must demonstrate that they have suffered a significant fall in income due to the 
COVID-19 crisis. 
 
The final determination of these levels above which those applying will be eligible will be 
determined once all the applications are received in order to be able to assist those most in 
need. 

Page 3



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

 
Applications and Information 
 

15. The Council’s website has been open for expressions of interest and as of 2 June there were 
some 157 expressions of interest. This has enabled the Council to capture contact details and 
has helped in the potential design of the scheme and level of payments that can be afforded 
with the limited funding available. 
 

16. Should the cabinet agree with the recommendations in this report the website will include a 
portal which will allow businesses to apply on-line. The application portal will be open for a 
period of two weeks – a balance between allowing sufficient time to apply for the scheme and 
provide necessary supporting documentation and the necessity to make payments as rapidly 
as possible in these challenging times. Once the application period is closed, all awards will be 
considered against the criteria laid down within the scheme – as soon as is practical. As 
businesses apply checks will be undertaken to verify the details supplied. 
 
How Much Grant 
 

17. BEIS states that the grants can be £25k, £10k or less than £10K (nothing between £25k and 
£10k). This is a difficult area to determine as the level of grant needs to be sufficient to help a 
business over the most challenging period, it does not need to exceed the net losses that a 
business will incur, and it needs to help as many businesses that it can. 
 

18. The recommendation is that grants consist of £25k (in exceptional circumstances), £10k and 
thereafter £7,500, £5,000 and £2,500. The level of grant awarded being depend upon the level 
of fixed costs being incurred by a business against its turnover with a minimum level of 
property related costs being incurred in order to qualify for the basic level of grant. This would 
then be scaled up depending upon the number of employees within the business.  
 

19. Depending upon the level of applications and the amount left in the grant fund, the Council 
would reserve the right to provide other application periods if appropriate and/or to make 
technical and other adjustments (including changes to the minimum property costs upon which 
qualification would be based, and adjustments to the respective grant amounts e.g. £3,000 
instead of £2,500 should resources allow) in order to ensure that the grant funding is fully 
distributed (£1,153,000 is not divisible by grants of £2,500).  
 

20. A small element of the funding may not be awarded initially in order to meet the costs of any 
successful appeals. Any remaining funding thereafter will be distributed to businesses which 
just failed to meet the criteria or by means of an additional top-up.  
 

21. The Council does not expect to make any awards prior to the close of the two week 
application period but will reserve the right to do so if there are exceptional circumstances and 
only if all the required checks have been completed. 
 
Delegation 
 

22. It is recommended that the Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the member for Financial 
Management and Estates be given delegated authority to make technical and other changes 
to the scheme to stay within the agreed criteria, government guidelines and funding levels.  
 
 
 
 

Page 4



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Review and Appeals  
 

23. It is the intention that the scheme be designed to remove individual judgement calls as far as 
possible. However, where a business does seek a review or appeal a two-stage process is 
recommended mirroring the Council’s complaint system. The Council’s Revenues and 
Benefits Manager will be responsible for conducting a review in the first instance.  
 

24. All such requests must be made in writing to the Council, within 14 days of the Council’s 
decision, and should state the reasons why the applicant is aggrieved with the decision of the 
Council. New information may be submitted at this stage to support the applicant’s appeal.  
 

25. A second stage would consist of a review by the Council’s Chief Finance Officer and either the 
Lead Councillor for Financial Management and Estates or the Leader of the Council. 
 
State Aid 
 

26. Any Discretionary Business Grant is given as state aid under either the de minimus rules or 
the temporary Framework for State Aid – as published on 19 March 2020. This means 
businesses receiving support under these provisions can receive up to €200,000 or €800,000 
respectively in aid over three years (being the current and previous two years). 
 

27. Any grant awarded is required to comply with the EU law on state aid. This will involve the 
applicant declaring to the Council if they have received any other de minimis State aid or aid 
provided under the EU Commission Covid-19 Temporary Framework. 
 
Other Grant Conditions and Responsibilities of the Grant Recipient 
 

28. The Council has been advised that all grants are taxable. Applicants will need to make their 
own enquiries to establish any taxable position or liability. 
 
Government Reporting 
 

29. The Council will be required to report to the government the level of grants distributed on a 
weekly basis. Given that not all local authorities are expected to choose an application window 
methodology the Council will not appear at the top of the government’s performance league 
table. 
 
Risk Management - Managing the Risk of Fraud and the Protection of Public Funds 
 

30. Any applicant caught falsifying information to gain grant money or failing to declare entitlement 
to any specified grants will face prosecution and any funding issued will be recovered from 
them. The Council will use a number of tools, such as credit reference agencies and the 
government’s Spotlight software.  
 

Economic/Financial Implications 

 

31. The grants are fully funded by the government. It is not known whether or to what levels new 
burdens funding will be forthcoming to cover the costs of developing and operating this 
scheme. 
 
 

Page 5



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Local People’s views 
 

32. In the short time available the views of local business organisations and Councillors were 
sought, and these are included in the attached documents. These also include the views of 
some other organisations and individuals that have also submitted comments that may have 
individual vested interests in the outcome of the scheme’s construction. 
 

33. There are a number of comments and observations that are particularly useful and constructive 
and have led to the tailoring of the scheme. There are some recommendations that have not 
been taken on board as the companies concerned may be national chains that would likely be 
excluded due to EU state Aid rules or may be negotiating with landlords on a national basis. 

 Organisational Consequences 

34. A working group has been set up within the Council to develop the scheme. This has 
comprised officers from, Revenues and Benefits, Transformation, IT, Regeneration, 
Communications, Accountancy, and Audit.  

 

35. This is putting additional pressures on resources and inevitably other areas of work are 
impacted – with consequent backlogs. 
 

36. The online application form, and details of the supporting evidence required, is being 
developed by the Energy Development and Delivery Project Manager and can be available on 
the website in the week commencing 8 June 2020.  

Timetable of Next Steps 
 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

Gain Approval  
under Emergency 
Powers 

9 June 2020  
 

Chief Finance Officer 

Application 
Window 
opens 

Open Application Window/ 
Communications/ Emails 
to those who have made 
expressions of interest 

9 am on 10 
June 2020 

Communications/ IT/ 
Transformation Team 

Application 
Window Closes  

Application window 
Closes/  

 9 am on 24 
June 2020 

Communications/ IT/ 
Transformation Team 

Modelling and 
Assessment  

Assessments of 
applications 
 

10 June – 
30 June 
2020 and 
potentially 
beyond 

Revenues and Benefits 
Manager/ Chief Finance 
Officer/ Transformation 
Team/ Regeneration 

Assessment of 
Applications and 
Payment of grants 

Payment of Awards 30 June 
2020 

Revenues and Benefits 
Manager Chief Finance 
Officer/ Transformation 
Team/ Regeneration/ 
Accountancy 

Page 6



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

 

 

Wards Affected 

All 
 

 

Policy Implications 

 
Equalities and Community Cohesiveness No 

Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)  No 
Risk Management     Yes 
Environmental Issues & Climate Change  No 
Economic/Financial Implications   Yes 
Human Rights Act     No 
Organisational Consequences   Yes 
Local People’s Views    Yes 
Anti-Poverty      No 
Legal                                                                   No 
 
 
 

Additional Information 

 Documents Attached: 
 

(i) Hastings Discretionary Business Grants Policy 
 

(ii) Feedback from Local Consultations 
 

(iii) Worked Example of Assessment (final criteria and thresholds yet to be determined) 
 

Officer to Contact 

Peter Grace 
pgrace@hastings.gov.uk 
01424 451503 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Hastings Borough Council  
Discretionary Business Grant Scheme 
2020/21 
 
 
 
  

Page 9



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
2 

 
Version Control 
 
 

 
 
  

Version Version date Revised by Description 

1 May 2020 DA Scheme 

2 May 2020 DA Amendments East Sussex Group 

3 June 2020 DA Amendments JS 

Page 10



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
3 

 

Contents 
 

1.0 Purpose of the scheme ............................................................................................................... 4 

2.0 Funding....................................................................................................................................... 4 

3.0 Eligibility criteria of the fund ........................................................................................................ 4 

4.0 Definitions – Eligibility Criteria .................................................................................................... 5 

5.0 National Priority Businesses ....................................................................................................... 7 

6.0 Definitions - National Priority Businesses ................................................................................... 7 

Small businesses in shared offices or other flexible workspaces which do not have their own 
business rates assessment ............................................................................................................. 7 

Regular market traders who do not have their own business rates assessment ............................. 7 

Bed and Breakfast premises which pay Council Tax instead of business rates ............................... 8 

Charity properties in receipt of charitable business rates relief which would otherwise have been 
eligible for Small Business Rates Relief or Rural Rate Relief .......................................................... 8 

7.0 Local Fund Priorities ................................................................................................................... 9 

8.0 How will grants be provided to businesses? ............................................................................... 9 

9.0 How much grant will be payable ................................................................................................. 9 

10.0 Limitation of funds and applications .......................................................................................... 11 

11.0 EU State Aid requirements ....................................................................................................... 11 

12.0 Scheme of delegation ............................................................................................................... 11 

13.0 Notification of decisions ............................................................................................................ 12 

14.0 Reviews of decisions ................................................................................................................ 12 

15.0 Complaints ................................................................................................................................ 12 

16.0 Other scheme conditions .......................................................................................................... 12 

17.0 Managing the risk of fraud ........................................................................................................ 12 

18.0 Data Protection ......................................................................................................................... 13 

 

  

Page 11



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
4 

1.0 Purpose of the scheme 
 

1.1 The purpose of this document is to determine eligibility for a payment under the Council’s 
Discretionary Business Grants Scheme. 
 

1.2 The new Discretionary Business Grant Scheme  has been developed in response to an 
announcement made by the Secretary of State for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy made 
on 1st May 2020 which sets out circumstances whereby a grant payment may be made by the 
Council to a business who has not previously qualified for a direct business  grant and is suffering 
a significant fall in income due to the  COVID-19 crisis. 

 
1.3  Whilst the awarding of grants will be at the total discretion of the Council, the Department for 

Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) has set down criteria which must be met by each 
business making an application for a discretionary grant. The Department has also indicated the 
types of business which should be given priority in all cases.  
 

1.4 This document sets out the criteria which BEIS have provided to the Council to determine 
eligibility for the Discretionary Business Grant. It also outlines the approach the Council will take 
in determining whether an award should be paid or not. 
 

1.5 The Council has worked closely with the East Sussex Group1 to develop the Discretionary 
Business Grant framework. However, each Council’s scheme has been tailored to suit its 
economic and business need. 

 
 

2.0 Funding 
 
2.1 Central Government has provided the Council with a sum of approximately £1.153m, which 

represents 5% of the projected allocation for the Direct Business Grants. The funding level is 
finite and therefore the Council, although keen to ensure that grants are given to the maximum 
number of businesses, is conscious that its expenditure cannot exceed that amount.   

 
2.2 The Council will limit the total awards to the level of funding available from Central Government. 
 

3.0 Eligibility criteria of the fund 
 
3.1 Central Government, whilst wanting Councils to exercise their local knowledge and discretion, 

have set national criteria for the funds. In all cases, the Council will only consider businesses for 
Discretionary Business Grant where all of the criteria are met. 

 
3.2 Any business failing to meet the criteria or failing to provide the Council with sufficient information 

to determine whether they meet the criteria, will not be awarded a Discretionary Business Grant. 
 
3.3 Government has stated that the intention of the scheme is to provide assistance to businesses 

that meet the following criteria: 
 Small and micro businesses, as defined in Section 33 Part 2 of the Small Business, 

Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 and the Companies Act 2006; 
 Businesses with relatively high ongoing fixed property-related costs; 

                                                 
1 The East Sussex Group consists of Eastbourne Borough Council, Hastings Borough Council, Lewes District Council, Rother District Council and Wealden 
District Council. 

Page 12



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
5 

 Businesses which can demonstrate that they have suffered a significant fall in income due 
to the COVID-19 crisis; 

 Businesses which occupy property, or part of a property, with a rateable value or annual 
rent or annual mortgage payments below £51,000; and 

 Businesses must have been trading on 11th March 2020. 
 
3.4 In addition, businesses which are eligible for any of the following are ineligible for any 

Discretionary Business Grant: 
 Small Business Grant Fund; 
 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant;  
 The Fisheries Response Fund; 
 Domestic Seafood Supply Scheme (DSSS);  
 The Zoos Support Fund;  
 The Dairy Hardship Fund;  

 

4.0 Definitions – Eligibility Criteria 
 
4.1 For the sake of clarity the following definitions are provided in respect of the criteria set out in 

paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4: 
 Small Businesses under the Companies Act 2006 must meet two of the following 

requirements in a year: 
o Turnover must not be more than £10.2 million per annum; 
o The Balance sheet total should not be more than £5.1 million; and  
o The number of employees should be less than 50.  

 
 Micro Businesses under the Companies Act 2006 must meet two of the following 

requirements in a year: 
o Turnover must not be more than £632,000 per annum 
o The Balance sheet total should not be more than £316,000; and  
o The number of employees should be less than 10.  

 
 Businesses must have relatively high ongoing fixed building-related costs – for the 

purpose of this scheme, the Council determines fixed building-related costs to be; 
o Payments of mortgage, lease, rent or licence for business premises and not 

domestic premises (apart from the exception of Bed and Breakfast premises as 
defined in part 6 of this scheme); 

o The payments must represent a high proportion of expenses in relation to the overall 
income of the business; and 

o The payments are unavoidable and are ongoing. 
The Council has determined that each business will have to provide evidence of high on-
going fixed building- related costs. The Council may require the business to provide evidence 
of liabilities including mortgage, lease, tenancy, service charges or licence documentation. 

 
 Businesses must demonstrate that they have suffered a significant fall in income due 

to the COVID-19 crisis – the Council has determined that businesses certify that there has 
been a significant fall in income for the period April and May 2020 compared with the same 
months in 2019. Businesses will be required to provided evidence to the Council of their 
income during both of those periods.  
Where the business was not trading in the previous financial year, the nearest comparable 
monthly information for is required.  

Page 13



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
6 

 The Council must be sure that the fall in income is due to the COVID-19 crisis and not a 
general failure of business; 
 

 Businesses must be trading on 11th March 2020 – the Council will require proof that the 
business was trading on 11th March 2020 and was not dormant, subject to a winding up 
order, in administration or subject to striking off. The Council will require the business to 
provide evidence such as work schedules, invoices and bank statements. 
For the avoidance of doubt if any business was fitting out a property prior to 11 March but 
never opened or traded, it would not be eligible for this grant; 
 

 Eligible to a grant under the Small Business Grant Scheme or the Retail Hospitality or 
Leisure Scheme2 – where the business is either eligible to receive or has received a grant 
under either of the two schemes administered by the Council, no Discretionary Business 
Grant shall be awarded.  
For the purposes of this scheme where an owner, lease, tenant or licensee has more than 
one business, or  is a director of another company operating from the same premises that is 
eligible, or has received a grant under either of the above schemes they will not be eligible 
for a further award under this scheme.   

 
 Eligible to assistance under the Fisheries Response Fund – as administered by the 

Marine Management Organisation (MMO) and funded by HM Treasury and the Department 
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. Where the business or person is eligible to 
assistance under this fund, no Discretionary Business Grant shall be awarded; 

 
 Eligible to assistance under the Domestic Seafood Supply Scheme (DSSS) as 

administered by the Marine Management Organisation (MMO) and funded by HM Treasury 
and the Maritime and Fisheries Fund. Where the business or person is eligible to assistance 
under this fund, no Discretionary Business Grant shall be awarded; 

 
 Eligible to assistance under the Zoos Support Fund as administered by the Department 

for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. Where the business or person is eligible to 
assistance under this fund, no Discretionary Business Grant shall be awarded; 

 
 Eligible to assistance under the Dairy Hardship Fund as administered by the Department 

for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. Where the business or person is eligible to 
assistance under this fund, no Discretionary Business Grant shall be awarded; 

 
 Businesses which occupy property, or part of a property, with a rateable value or 

annual rent or annual mortgage payments below £51,000 – The Council has decided that 
this shall be a key determinant of priority under the scheme and, as such, where businesses 
have rateable values of £51,000 or more or make payments of mortgage, lease, rent or 
licence  of £51,000 or more per annum, no Discretionary Business Grant shall be  awarded.  
For the avoidance of doubt, the Council has decided that in calculating the figure of £51,000, 
all buildings occupied by the business (or the responsibility of the business) shall be taken 
into account.   
 
 

                                                 
2 Eligibility Criteria for either the Small Business Grant or Retail Hospitality and Leisure Grant as determined by the Department for 
Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy and administered by the Council; 

Page 14



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
7 

 
5.0 National Priority Businesses 
 
5.1 Government are asking Councils to prioritise the following types of businesses for grants from 

within this discretionary fund: 
(a) Small businesses in shared offices or other flexible workspaces e.g. industrial parks, 

science parks, incubators etc., which do not have their own business rates assessment; 
(b) Regular market traders who do not have their own business rates assessment; 
(c) Bed and Breakfast premises which pay Council Tax instead of business rates; and 
(d) Charity properties in receipt of charitable business rates relief which would 

otherwise have been eligible for Small Business Rates Relief or Rural Rate Relief. 
 
5.2 The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive, but it is intended to guide Councils as to 

the types of uses that the Government considers should be a priority for the scheme.  The Council 
will decide whether particular situations not listed are broadly similar in nature to those above 
and, if so, whether they may be eligible for grants from this discretionary fund.  

 
6.0 Definitions - National Priority Businesses 
 
6.1 In line with Government’s priorities for the fund, the following definitions have been used to 

determine whether any particular business should be treated as a priority for the funding: 
 

Small businesses in shared offices or other flexible workspaces which do not have their 
own business rates assessment 

 
6.2 These are defined by the Council as businesses which do not have a separate assessment for 

Non-Domestic Rating (i.e. those businesses who do not occupy a separate hereditament within 
the 2017 Rating List) and who, on the 11th March 2020 were trading and shared the premises 
with other businesses.  

 
6.3 Primarily, these businesses will not be assessed individually for Non-Domestic Rating on the 

basis that the landlord has paramount occupation of the premises. 
 

Regular market traders who do not have their own business rates assessment 
 
6.4 As with the other priority businesses for this fund, these will be businesses who do not have a 

separate assessment for Non-Domestic Rating (i.e. those businesses who do not occupy a 
separate hereditament within the 2017 Rating List). 

 
6.5 The Council has decided that for the purpose of this scheme, market traders shall be defined as: 

“ a business or person who sells goods wholly or mainly to visiting members of the public from a 
stall, pitch or similar, from a place or market recognised by the Council as a market”.  
Where the business is street trading, the business or person must hold a valid street market 
licence issued by the Council.  

 
6.6 All market traders must prove to the Council that as at 11th March 2020, they had a fixed regular 

pitch or stall (not mobile) within the Council’s area from which they sold goods to visiting 
members of the public.  

 

Page 15



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
8 

6.7 For the purposes of this scheme, ‘regular’ is trading for at least 5 days per week. Where the 
market trader traded less frequently, the Council will not consider the business as priority for a 
grant. 

 
6.8 Where a market trader operates in more than one local authority area (including in the East 

Sussex area), the applicant will need to certify that they trade primarily in the Council’s area or 
have fixed business base within the Council’s area. Where a grant is claimed from another 
authority, no grant will be awarded by the Council.  

 
Bed and Breakfast premises which pay Council Tax instead of business rates 

 
6.9 For the purpose of this scheme, these businesses are those who do not occupy a separate 

hereditament within the 2017 Rating List and who the Valuation Office Agency would deem to 
fall within the Council Tax Valuation List.  

 
6.10 For the avoidance of doubt, the Council will consider this as a priority business if: 

(a) the Bed and Breakfast property is domestic and therefore subject to council tax rather than 
business rates;  

(b) It provides short stay accommodation for no more than six persons at any one time within 
the past year; 

(c) The property is the sole or main residence of the proprietor(s) and the bed and breakfast use 
is subsidiary to the private use; and 

(d) The business was trading on 11th March 2020. 
 
6.11 In determining subsidiary use the Council shall take into account: 

 Whether the majority of the premises is being used for business purposes: and 
 If the premises have been adapted to alter the character of the property beyond that of a 

private house. 
 
6.12 Where the Council has determined that the Bed and Breakfast premises should have been 

subject to Non-Domestic Rating, the business shall not be considered as a priority for a 
Discretionary Business Grant. 

 
6.13 The Council has determined that any premises where it considers that the Bed and Breakfast 

business is basically ‘home sharing’ and where advertising is wholly undertaken through ‘home 
sharing’ websites will not take priority for the fund.  

 
Charity properties in receipt of charitable business rates relief which would otherwise 
have been eligible for Small Business Rates Relief or Rural Rate Relief 

 
6.14 In certain cases, where a charity was in receipt of mandatory relief under Section 43 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988, it would not have been entitled to either Small Business Rates 
Relief or Rural Rate Relief. As such it would not have been able to receive a grant under the 
Small Business Grant Fund. 

 
6.15 The Council will give priority to charities who, were it not for the receipt of mandatory relief, would 

have met the qualifying criteria for the Small Business Grants (see the Council’s policy for Direct 
Business Grants). It should be noted that this only relates to premises that would, but for the 
receipt of mandatory rate relief, have received a percentage reduction under the Small Business 
Rates Criteria. In the main this will be premises with a Rateable Value of £15,000 or less and 

Page 16



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
9 

where the ratepayer occupies only one premises (excluding any premises which would be 
disregarded under the Small Business Rates Relief scheme).  

 
6.16 The Council has decided that any charitable business receiving other help from public funds (i.e. 

from Government, Local Authorities etc.) shall not be priority for a Discretionary Business Grant. 
 

7.0 Local Fund Priorities 
 
7.1 In addition to the national fund priorities, the Council has decided that it will accept applications 

from all local businesses meeting the criteria although It should be noted that, as the grant fund 
is limited, the Council will look to award businesses who meet the national priorities first and any 
residual funds awarded to businesses who meet the local priorities. 

 
7.2 The Council has decided that businesses meeting local priorities shall be: 

 Larger small businesses who rent a space within a single property (hereditament); 
 Businesses incubators who provide assistance to new and start-up businesses; 
 Businesses in the tourism sector (including suppliers who rely on tourism for more than 50% 

of their turnover) and including language schools who were ineligible for the Retail, 
Hospitality and Leisure Grant; and 

 Non profit-making organisations providing support to vulnerable and disadvantaged groups. 
 

7.3 In all cases however, the business must meet the eligibility criteria stated in sections 3 and 4. 
 

8.0 How will grants be provided to businesses? 
 
8.1 The Council is fully aware of the importance of grants to assist businesses and support the local 

community and economy. The Discretionary Business Grant scheme will offer a lifeline to 
businesses who are struggling to survive due to the COVID-19 crisis. 

 
8.2 In all cases, a simple application form is required, and this can be completed on-line at the 

Council’s website www.hastings.gov.uk/my-council/covid19/businesses/  
 Supplementary information may also be required, and all businesses should look to provide this, 
where requested to the Council as soon as possible. 

 
8.3 An application for a Discretionary Business Grant is deemed to have been made when a duly 

completed application form is received via the Council’s online procedure. 

 
9.0 How much grant will be payable 
 
9.1 Central Government has determined that there shall be a ‘cap’ on grants of £25,000 per business 

and that the next level of grant shall be £10,000. However, the Council under Central 
Government guidance, has the following discretion: 
(a) Whether to award grants at the £25,000 and/or £10,000 level; and 
(b) To determine whether grants of less than £10,000 should be awarded. 

 
9.2 The Council has decided, that in order to support as many businesses as possible, where 

businesses meet all the eligibility criteria, a discretionary grant of £10,000 or up to £10,000 may 
be awarded with £25,000 in exceptional circumstances. Grants up to £10,000 being determined 
at £7,500, £5,000 and £2,500 levels. 

 

Page 17

http://www.hastings.gov.uk/


 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
10 

9.3 The level of grant to be awarded will be dependent upon the level of unavoidable fixed property 
related costs being incurred, turnover and the number of employees within the business. The 
minimum level of property related costs and overall net costs incurred, in order to be eligible for 
the grant will be determined once the application window is closed and the overall level of 
demand is established.  

 
9.4 The businesses given priority in the scheme are as follows and the decision of the Council will 

be final: 
 

National priority businesses 
 
(a) Small businesses in shared offices or other flexible workspaces; 
(b) Regular market traders who do not have their own business rates assessment; 
(c) Bed and Breakfast premises which pay Council Tax instead of business rates; and 
(d) Charity properties in receipt of charitable business rates relief which would otherwise have 

been eligible for Small Business Rates Relief or Rural Rate Relief 
 

Local Priority businesses 
(a) Larger small businesses who rent a space within a single property (hereditament); 
(b) Businesses incubators who provide assistance to new and start-up businesses; 
(c) Businesses in the tourism sector (including suppliers who rely on tourism for more than 50% 

of their turnover) and including language schools who were ineligible for the Retail, 
Hospitality and Leisure Grant; and 

(d) Non-profit making organisations providing support to the vulnerable and disadvantaged 
groups. 
 

9.5 The grant award may be reduced if there are a large number of applications from qualifying 
businesses.  

 
9.6 Likewise, if funds are available after applications are assessed, the Council may decide either 

to increase the level of awards or invite other businesses to apply 
 
9.7 The Council reserves the right to award grants of £25,000 in exceptional circumstances where 

the failure of a business could have a significant effect on the economy of the Borough or 
where there are a significant number of jobs at risk. 

 
9.8 It should be noted that depending upon the level of applications, and as the grant fund is 

limited, the Council may look to award businesses who meet the national priorities first and 
may adjust funding awarded to businesses who meet the additional local priorities. 

 
9.9 Only one Discretionary Business Grant will be awarded to any business. This will also apply if 

more than one Limited Company has the same director (s) or where more than one business 
has the same proprietor (either sole traders or partnerships). 

 
9.10 For the avoidance of doubt and for the purposes of this scheme, where a proprietor, owner, 

lease, tenant or licensee has more than one business, or is a director of another company 
operating from the same premises that is eligible, or has received a grant under either of the 
Small Business or Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant schemes they will not be eligible for a 
further award under this scheme. 

Page 18



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
11 

 
10.0 Limitation of funds and applications 
 
10.1 All monies paid through the Discretionary Business Grant scheme will be funded by Central 

Government and paid to the Council under S31 of the Local Government Act 2003. However, as 
mentioned in paragraph 2, the funds are limited and, as such, the Council is not able to award a 
grant where funds are no longer available. 

 
10.2 In order to fairly administer the scheme, the Council has decided that awards will be determined 

as follows: 
(a) There will be a two-week period during which applications can be made. This will be between 

9am on 10 June 2020 and 9 am on 24 June 2020; 
(b) Any businesses wishing to claim should complete the necessary form on the Council’s 

website as shown in paragraph 8.2.  This will also include the provision of such evidence as 
required by the Council; 

(c) All claims will be made online; 
(d) Once the application period is closed, all awards will be considered against the criteria laid 

down within this scheme, as soon as practicable; 
(e) Depending on the number of applications and the amount left in the grant fund, the Council 

reserves the right to provide other application periods if appropriate and/or to adjust the 
criteria and level of grants. 

(f) The Council does not expect to make any awards prior to the close of the two-week 
application period but will reserve the right to do so if there are exceptional circumstances 
and only if all the required checks have been completed. 

 
11.0 EU State Aid requirements 
 
11.1 Any Discretionary Business Grant is given as aid under either the De Minimis rules or the 

Temporary Framework for State Aid measures to support the economy in the current Covid-19 
outbreak published on 19 March 2020.  This means that businesses receiving support under 
these provisions can receive up to €200,000 or €800,000 respectively in aid over three years 
(being the current and previous two years). 

 
11.2 Any grant awarded is required to comply with the EU law on State Aid.2 This will involve the 

applicant declaring to the Council  if they have received any other de minimis State aid or aid 
provided under the EU Commission Covid-19 Temporary Framework. 

 
11.3 If the applicant has not received any other de minimis State aid, they are not required to make 

that declaration to the Council or to complete any declaration statement. 

 
12.0 Scheme of delegation 
 
12.1 The Council’s Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of the Council, the Deputy 

Leader, and the lead Councillor for Financial Management and Estates has approved this 
scheme on behalf of the Council under emergency powers. 

 
12.2 Officers of the Council will administer the scheme and the Chief Finance Officer in consultation 

with the lead councillor for Financial Management and Estates is authorised to make technical 

Page 19



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
12 

amendments and adjustments to the scheme to ensure available funding is distributed, and that 
it meets the criteria set by the Council and remains in line with Central Government guidance. 

 
13.0 Notification of decisions 
 
13.1 Applications will be considered by the Revenues and Benefits Service. 
 
13.2 All decisions made by the Council shall be notified to the applicant either in writing or by email. 

A decision shall be made as soon as practicable after the closure of the application period. 

 
14.0 Reviews of decisions 
 
14.1 The Council will operate an internal review process and will accept an applicant’s request for an 

appeal of its decision.  
 
14.2 All such requests must be made in writing to the Council, within 14 days of the Council’s decision, 

and should state the reasons why the applicant is aggrieved with the decision of the Council. 
New information may be submitted at this stage to support the applicant’s appeal.  

 
14.3 The application will be reconsidered by the Revenues and Benefits Service Manager as soon as 

practicable and the applicant informed in writing or by email of the decision. 
 
14.4 If the applicant is still aggrieved, a further representation may be made to the Council and the 

Chief Finance Officer in conjunction with either the Lead Councillor for Financial Management 
and Estates or the Leader of the Council shall make the final decision. 

 

15.0 Complaints 
 
15.1 The Council’s ‘Complaints Procedure’ (available on the Council’s website) will be applied in the 

event of any complaint received in relation to the service you have received in relation to your 
application for a Discretionary Business Grant. 

 
16.0 Other scheme conditions 
 
16.1 The Council has been informed by Treasury that all grants are taxable. Applicants should make 

their own enquiries to establish any tax position or liability. 
 

17.0 Managing the risk of fraud 
 
17.1 Neither the Council, nor the Government will accept deliberate manipulation of the scheme and 

fraud. Any applicant caught falsifying information to gain grant money or failing to declare 
entitlement to any of the specified grants will face prosecution and any funding issued will be 
recovered from them. 

 
17.2 Applicants should note that, where a grant is paid by the Council, details of each individual grant 

may be shared with other local authorities and Central Government. In line with Transparency 
requirements details of payments made above £250 will be published on the Council’s website. 

 

Page 20



 

 

 

 
Hastings/Discretionary Business Grants Scheme /V3-08062020 

 
13 

17.3 The Council reserves the right to reclaim any grant paid in error. 
 

18.0 Data Protection 
 
18.1 All information and data provided by businesses shall be dealt with in accordance with the 

Council’s Data Protection policy and Privacy Notices which are available on the Council’s 
website. 

 
 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Discretionary Business Grant Scheme Policy
	Hastings Discretionary Business Grant Policy v4


